RECEIVED

Apr 10 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Maite Murphy
Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2018-CP-10-02109
Appellate Case No. 2023-000029

Rebecca Turisk,

Appellant,

v.

Dennis K. Schimpf, M.D. and
Sweetgrass Plastic Surgery, LLC,

Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Mark C. Tanenbaum
W. Allison Smith Rogers
W. Tyler Robinson
Mark C. Tanenbaum, P.A.
1156 Bowman Road, Suite 245
Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29464
(843) 577-5100

Jesse Sanchez
The Law Office of Jesse Sanchez, LLC
98 ½ Broad Street, Suite B
Charleston, South Carolina 29464
(843) 814-8181

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I.** DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN CHARGING THE JURY AS TO ASSUMPTION OF THE RISK IN THE INSTANT MEDICAL MALPRACTICE ACTION?
- II.** DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT AS TO ASSUMPTION OF THE RISK, AND IN DENYING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION TO EXCLUDE THE PRINCIPLE AS A JURY CHARGE?
- III.** WAS THE TRIAL COURT'S JURY CHARGE ON ASSUMPTION OF THE RISK CONFUSING TO THE JURY, PREJUDICIAL TO PLAINTIFF, AND DID IT AFFECT THE OUTCOME OF THE TRIAL?
- IV.** DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S POST-TRIAL MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT, OR ALTERNATIVELY FOR A NEW TRIAL ABSOLUTE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a medical negligence action arising out of treatment of Appellant Rebecca Turisk (“Ms. Turisk”) by Dennis K. Schimpf, M.D. (“Dr. Schimpf”) and Sweetgrass Plastic Surgery, LLC (“Sweetgrass Plastic Surgery”) (collectively, “Defendants”).

This appeal centers on whether it was proper for the trial court to charge the jury as to Plaintiff’s alleged assumption of the risk. Appellant asserts that the trial court erred in charging the jury as to assumption of the risk; that assumption of the risk is irrelevant and inapplicable in the context of the instant medical malpractice action; that it was misleading, confusing, and prejudicial to charge the jury as to this principle; and that Appellant’s motion for a directed verdict on this issue should have been granted. Appellant also asserts that the trial court erred in denying her post-trial motion for a new trial or judgment notwithstanding the verdict where the jury verdict on proximate cause was both wholly unsupported by the evidence and controlled by an error of law.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On April 23, 2018, Ms. Turisk filed the present lawsuit in Charleston County, South Carolina. (Complaint, R. __). The Complaint alleged, *inter alia*, that Defendants were negligent in performing a reduction mammoplasty (i.e. breast reduction) and removing Ms. Turisk’s existing, twenty-five-year-old breast implants; that Defendants breached the standard of care by interrupting the vascularity (i.e. blood supply) to Ms. Turisk’s breasts, causing necrosis and infection of her breasts, leading to loss of one breast and disfigurement of the other; and that as a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ breach, Ms. Turisk has had to undergo multiple procedures to remove necrotic breast tissue, and has suffered *inter alia*, great pain, scarring, disfigurement, and hundreds of thousands of dollars in medical bills. (Complaint, R. __)

On May 23, 2018, Defendants filed their Answer to the Complaint, generally denying the substantive allegations contained therein and raising various affirmative defenses. (Answer, R.__). In raising their affirmative defenses to the Complaint, Defendants simultaneously alleged that the injuries complained of by Ms. Turisk were known risks and complications, which Ms. Turisk had accepted, while at the same time contending that they could not have “foreseen or anticipated in the exercise of ordinary care the circumstances that arose and/or became evident immediately prior to the incident.” (Answer at p. 4, para. 2 and 5; R.__). Defendants also alleged that Ms. Turisk’s injuries were caused in whole or in part by Plaintiff’s and/or her representatives’ own comparative/contributory negligence. (Answer at p. 4, para. 6; R.__).

Motion in Limine

On November, 11, 2022, Ms. Turisk’s trial counsel filed a Motion in Limine, wherein they sought to exclude, *inter alia*, testimony or evidence related to Plaintiff’s informed consent to surgery pursuant to Rules 401, 402, and 403, SCRE. (Motion in Limine, pp. 19-22; R.__). The Motion specifically noted that Ms. Turisk had not made a claim for lack of informed consent, but rather a claim that Defendants had breached the standard of care; that South Carolina and other courts expressly acknowledged the distinction between the two types of claims; and that evidence concerning informed consent is not relevant and does not make Defendants’ breach of the standard of care any more or less probable. (Id., pp. 19-22; R.__). Ms. Turisk’s trial counsel further argued that the evidence and/or testimony related to informed consent would only serve to confuse and mislead the jury to believe that by consenting to the procedure, Ms. Turisk had consented to injuries caused by Defendants’ negligence. (Id., pp. 19-22; R.__).

Trial

Thereafter, a four-day jury trial was held in Charleston, South Carolina, from November 14, 2022, to November 17, 2022. On the first day of trial, Ms. Turisk's Motion in Limine was heard by the Honorable Maite Murphy. (Trial Tr., p. 19, line 14 – p. 25, line 19; R. __). After hearing argument from both parties, the Court initially agreed with Ms. Turisk that the issue of informed consent was neither relevant nor material to her claim for breach of the standard of care, reasoning, "Basically her informed consent talks about risks of surgery, and it's not relevant, nor material, to the standard of care, which would be the causation of the breach of the standard of care and the proximate cause of her injuries. So your motion on that is granted." (Trial Tr., p. 21, lines 18-22, R. __).

Despite the ruling, Defendants' trial counsel continued to argue the issue, complaining that informed consent was "a central tenet of our defense in this case." (Trial Tr., p. 22, lines 1-6, R. __). In response, Ms. Turisk's trial counsel once again noted that the question in front of the jury is whether there was a breach of the standard of care; that informed consent does not go to that issue; that Ms. Turisk had not made a claim for lack of informed consent; and that the issue of informed consent is irrelevant and would be highly misleading and confusing to a jury, who was likely to interpret it to mean that Ms. Turisk had signed off on any and all possible complications, including any injuries caused by Defendants' negligent acts. (Trial Tr., p. 22, line 17 – p. 23, line 13; p. 24, lines 4-12; R. __).

In support of the Motion, Ms. Turisk's counsel cited to *Fletcher v. Medical University of South Carolina*, 390 S.C. 458, 462-70, 702 S.E.2d 372, 374-78 (Ct. App. 2010), recognizing the distinction between claims for lack of informed consent and claims for breach of the standard of care, and *Wright v. Kaye*, 592 S.E.2d 307, 27 (Va. 2004), a sister court case, wherein the

Supreme Court of Virginia held that “evidence of information conveyed to [the plaintiff] concerning the risks of surgery in obtaining her consent is neither relevant nor material to the issue of the standard of care,” and that “awareness of the general risks of surgery is not a defense available to [defendant] against the claim of deviation from the standard of care.” (Motion in Limine, pp. 19-22; Trial Tr., p. 19, line 14 – p. 25, line 19; R.__). Ms. Turisk’s counsel also cited *Hayes v. Camel*, 927 A.2d 880 (Conn. 2007), wherein the Supreme Court of Connecticut found that evidence of a plaintiff’s consent “could only serve to confuse the jury because the jury could conclude, contrary to the law and evidence, that consent to the surgery was tantamount to consent to the injury which resulted from that surgery;” and that a jury “could conclude that consent amounted to waiver, which is plainly wrong.” (Motion in Limine at p. 21; R.__).

In reply, Defendants’ trial counsel contended that the South Carolina Supreme Court’s decision in *Faile v. Bycura* stood for the proposition that evidence of informed consent is relevant any time assumption of the risk is pled as an affirmative defense. (Trial Tr., R. p. 21, lines 2-8; p. 22, lines 2-15; p. 23, lines 15-25; R.__). A review of *Faile*, however, reveals that the issue of informed consent was relevant in that case because Plaintiff had acknowledged in her consent form that surgery “**would probably result in** [certain side effects],” namely stiff toes. *Faile v. Bycura*, 289 S.C. 398, 399, 346 S.E.2d 528, 529 (1986). Although Ms. Turisk acknowledged the existence of certain risks and complications associated with surgery, she was never advised, nor did she acknowledge, that these general risks “would probably” occur in her case. The form did not even list mastectomy as a potential risk of surgery. (Consent Form, Def. Exh. 2, R.__) Indeed, it is difficult to fathom a situation where someone would voluntarily undergo (or even perform) an elective procedure with the understanding that it “would probably result in” necrosis, infection, debridement, and mastectomy.

The lower court reversed its initial decision and accepted Defense counsel's newly-raised interpretation of *Faile*, stating, "Well, it looks like the Supreme Court has told us differently, so I think since they pled it as an affirmative defense, ***the jury will be given a jury instruction regarding the two different standards. Obviously assumption of risk is not an assumption of consenting to deviation from the standard of care, so the jury will have the opportunity to make that distinction.*** But based upon the *Faile* case, I think it is appropriate." [Emphasis added] (Tr. Transcript, p. 24, lines 13-19). As a result of the Court's ruling, Defendants were permitted to advance their theory that informed consent and assumption of the risk were applicable to Ms. Turisk's claim for breach of the standard of care.

Breach of the Standard of Care

Ms. Turisk's medical expert, C. Scott Hultman, M.D., testified as to the standard of care. (Trial Tr., p. 190, line 15 – p. 244, line 20). Dr. Hultman, a member of the faculty at UNC-Chapel Hill and then Johns Hopkins, and a Board Examiner for The American Board of Plastic Surgery, testified that Dr. Schimpf breached the standard of care by selecting the wrong surgical approach for the breast reduction; that his selected approach was contraindicated and carried a high probability of failure for someone with existing implants like Ms. Turisk; and that Dr. Schimpf failed to take into account or even document in his chart the location of the surgical scars from Ms. Turisk's original implant procedure, a critical requirement for mapping out incisions for the surgery he was about to perform to ensure that the already-altered blood supply to the breasts was not disrupted during surgery. (Trial Tr., p. 199, lines 4-10; p. 208, line 16 – p. 210, line 1; R. __). Dr. Hultman also testified that safer, more appropriate approaches could and should have been employed, noting "[T]he key principle in this case is that the wrong operation was chosen to do the breast-reduction/implant removal [...] and that a different approach could

have been done to greatly improve the safety of the operation and ensure success.” (Trial Tr., p. 199, lines 4-10; R. __)

Undisputed Testimony

Disruption of Blood Supply as Proximate Cause of Injury

Plaintiff’s and Defendants’ experts offered competing opinions as to whether Dr. Schimpf breached the standard of care. However, the experts all agreed that Dr. Schimpf disrupted the blood supply to Ms. Turisk’s breasts during his performance of the surgery and that this disruption caused the severe complications Ms. Turisk suffered. Ms. Turisk’s medical expert, Dr. Hultman, testified:

Q. And can you explain to the jury the relationship of the technique employed by Dr. Schimpf to the necrosis infection and ultimately the loss of the breast tissue?

A. Yes. So the sequence of events would be that the incisions were made; breast tissue was removed; the nipple is in the process of basically dying over the course of the next one to two weeks. You might get a little bit of blood flow from across that scar, but not enough to support, what we call, the metabolic demand of the tissue. **This is more than just skin. I mean, it’s nipple, it’s ductwork, it’s glands that have to have a blood supply, and now it’s all gone.**

So this turns into basically a scab, or an eschar. And then when that -- as that is occurring, bacteria get in; the bacteria eat away at the tissues; and then the cycle continues because, as the bacteria eat at the tissues, any remaining blood supply is also gone. **And so when you remove blood supply to the breast, that’s when you get fat necrosis, or breast-tissue necrosis.**

So it’s setting up a cycle of events that we know what happened. I mean, she ended up with a mastectomy. [Emphasis added]

(Trial Tr. p. 226, lines 1-19; Pl.’s Exhibits 1-19, R. __).

Defendants’ medical expert, Dr. Todd Lefkowitz, initially tried to dispute that during and as a result of his surgery, Dr. Schimpf disrupted the blood supply to Ms. Turisk’s breasts.

However, upon having his memory refreshed with his own prior deposition testimony, he agreed, albeit begrudgingly, that Dr. Schimpf had indeed disrupted the blood supply to Ms. Turisk's breasts during and as a result of his surgery:

Q. But it [blood supply] was disrupted as a result of this surgery, correct?

A. It was resulted [sic] at some point during the surgery.

Q. Okay. And during this surgery, Dr. Schimpf's surgery?

A. That's correct.

Q. All right. Thank you. Does that refresh your memory now about you testifying that it was disrupted during the surgery?

A. It was disrupted during the surgery.

(Full exchange and impeachment at Trial Tr. p. 422, line 1 to p. 424, line 7, citing Lefkowitz Depo. Tr. p. 25, lines 18-24, and p. 26, lines 3-6, R. __)

Plaintiff's and Defendants' experts also agreed that Ms. Turisk's complications were a direct result of the surgical procedure that Dr. Schimpf performed. Defendants' own medical expert, Dr. Lefkowitz, expressly acknowledged that Ms. Turisk's medical complications were *the result* of Dr. Schimpf's performance of the procedure:

Q. You agree Ms. Turisk suffered an unfortunate complication *from this procedure*, correct?

A. **I do. Yes, sir.**

Q. Is that something that surgeons have to deal with throughout the course of their career?

A. It is. It's the worst part of our job, 100 percent.

[Emphasis added] (Trial Tr., p. 407, lines 7-12; R. __).

Defendants' infectious disease expert, Dr. Joseph, also acknowledged that Ms. Turisk's necrosis and infection resulted from the lack of blood flow caused by the surgery and explained

how the lack of blood flow caused the necrosis and infection can only be cured with surgery, stating, “You can’t cure something that doesn't have a blood flow, and the only way this was cured was by surgery, by removing it.” (Trial Tr., p. 368, lines 22-25; R. __). He also provided some insight on how Dr. Schimpf’s disruption of the blood supply caused that necrosis and infection:

A. [...] Fat necrosis is always a secondary infection, one that occurs after the surgical procedure.

Q. And do you believe that to be the case in Ms. Turisk's situation?

A. Absolutely.

Q. So if I’m understanding correctly, she would have had the fat necrosis first, and then the infection developed later?

A. Right. **The fat necrosis is invisible**, it’s under the skin, and all you can feel after surgery is a lump or something that's painful. **But when it causes skin damage, then it creates the secondary infection**, and that’s something visible by examination.

(Trial Tr., p. 370, lines 15-25) [Emphasis added]

Ms. Turisk’s medical expert, Dr. Hultman, provided further testimony that Ms. Turisk’s injuries were a direct and proximate result of Dr. Schimpf’s disruption of blood supply during surgery, stating, “when you remove blood supply to the breast, that’s when you get fat necrosis, or breast-tissue necrosis.” (Trial Tr., p. 226, lines 16-17; R. __). He further addressed how this necrosis led to infection and the loss of Ms. Turisk’s breasts:

Well, ultimately she required a complete mastectomy on the right side and a partial mastectomy on the left, but in the short run she ended up with a very severe infection on the right side, with complete loss of the nipple, severe fat necrosis which continued to progress with infection, and ultimately loss of those tissues.

And on the left side, it was a very, very close call. She ended up almost losing her nipple. Looks like she lost about a third of that,

but the rest of it did regenerate. But, as we know, she ended up having to have a partial mastectomy there for fat necrosis.

(Trial Tr., p. 212, lines 5-15; Pl.'s Exhibits 1-19, R. __).

Comparative Negligence

Despite the comparative/contributory negligence defense raised in Defendants' Answer, the experts also agreed that neither Ms. Turisk nor her caretakers did anything to cause or contribute to her injuries. Plaintiff's medical expert, Dr. Hultman, testified:

Q. Based on your review of this case, do you have an opinion as to whether Rebecca did anything to cause the fat necrosis and infection?

A. There is nothing in the record that indicates that she did anything to hasten this course or to cause this.

(Trial Tr., p. 212, lines 1-20; R. __)

Defendants' medical expert, Dr. Lefkowitz, agreed:

Q. All right. So you've also agreed that—I think you responded to this on direct—that Ms. Turisk, nor her caretakers, nor any of her subsequent physicians, did anything to cause the condition she finds herself in today?

A. No, sir. Nothing would suggest that.

Q. And the procedures she's had since then were done appropriately and were medically necessary?

A. I have no criticism with any of that.

(Trial Tr., p. 420, lines 17-19; R. __).

Defendants' infectious disease expert, Dr. Joseph, also agreed:

Q. Do you have any criticisms of anything that Ms. Turisk did in her postoperative care?

A. Oh, of course not.

Q. Do you have any criticisms of anything Ms. Turisk's caregivers, the laypeople in her life who took care of her, do you have any criticisms of them?

A. I do not.

(Trial Tr., p. 374, line 22 – p. 375, line 3; R. __).

Even the Defendant, Dr. Schimpf, agreed that Ms. Turisk did nothing to contribute to her injuries:

Q. So I want to get a few things out of the way just to sort of be certain that I hear you correctly. You agree that Rebecca did not do anything herself to cause this outcome; is that correct?

A. I'm unaware of anything. That's correct.

(Trial Tr., p. 325, line 25 – p. 326, line 2; R. __).

Plaintiff's Motions for Directed Verdict

At the conclusion of Defendants' case, Ms. Turisk's trial counsel moved for a directed verdict as to two affirmative defenses: comparative negligence and assumption of the risk. (Trial Tr., p. 427, line 2 – p. 428, line 4; R. __). As to comparative negligence, Ms. Turisk's trial counsel noted that no testimony had been elicited to support Defendants' contention that Ms. Turisk contributed to the outcome of the surgery nor had she been negligent in any way; and that—to the contrary—every doctor testified she did nothing wrong. Defendants' counsel conceded as much, and the motion was granted. (Trial Tr., p. 427, lines 4-17; R. __).

As to the assumption of risk defense, Ms. Turisk's trial counsel noted Ms. Turisk did not have any input on Dr. Schimpf's choice of surgical technique; that everyone agreed the blood supply to Ms. Turisk's breasts was disrupted as a result of the surgical technique Dr. Schimpf employed; and it was undisputed that Ms. Turisk did nothing to cause the outcome in this case. (Trial Tr., p. 427, line 19 – p. 428, line 4). Despite Plaintiff's arguments, the court again

summarily denied the Motion without so much as waiting for a response from the Defendants, stating, “There has been evidence presented creating a question of fact for the jury to determine on that issue.” (Trial Tr., p. 428, lines 2-4; R. __). In rendering its decision, however, the court failed to identify any evidence to support its ruling.

Plaintiff’s Objection to Jury Charge for Assumption of Risk

Ms. Turisk had previously moved to exclude evidence and testimony related to informed consent and assumption of the risk, emphasizing that mere awareness of the general risks of surgery is not a defense against a claim for deviation from the standard of care, and that providing evidence of Ms. Turisk’s informed consent was likely to mislead the jury to believe her consent to surgery was tantamount to consent to injuries resulting from that surgery. (Trial Tr., p. 19, line 14-p. 25, line 19; Motion in Limine, p. 19-22; R. __).

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