RECEIVED

Aug 21 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-000029
Circuit Court Case No. 2018-CP-10-02109

Rebecca Turisk,

Appellant,

v.

Dennis K. Schimpf, M.D. and
Sweetgrass Plastic Surgery, LLC,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Todd W. Smyth
Allie A. Maples
Smyth Whitley, LLC
126 Seven Farms Drive, Suite 260
Charleston, South Carolina 29492
Tel: (843) 606-5635
Fax: (843) 654-4095
tsmyth@smythwhitley.com
amaples@smythwhitley.com

Attorneys for Respondents

August 21, 2023

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

Appellant also tries to circumvent *Faile* by making a blanket assertion that the doctrine has no “legitimate application in the medical malpractice context” because a “patient that undergoes surgery does not assume the risk that the physician will deviate from the standard of care.” However, this assertion is both nonsensical and ignores the plain text of *Faile*, which addresses the relevance of assumption of the risk to medical malpractice cases like this one. First, the

assertion is nonsensical because no one ever asked Plaintiff to assume a risk of potential medical negligence in this case, nor would they. Appellant would seek to conflate the very real medical risks of the procedure that are being assumed with a completely hypothetical legal one that could never be assumed. As the Supreme Court explained: “[w]hen a patient seeks treatment by a particular type of practitioner, he may be held to have assumed the risk of the method of treatment of the particular school of thought chosen.” *Faile*, 289 S.C. at 399, 346 S.E.2d at 529-300. Appellant’s position also ignores the well-established purpose of assumption of the risk in South Carolina tort law. *See Baxley*, 303 S.C. at 347, 400 S.E.2d at 507 (“The doctrine of assumption of the risk embodies the principle that one should not be permitted knowingly and voluntarily to incur an obvious risk of harm and then hold another person responsible for his injury.”). Thus, there is both a legitimate and purposeful application of assumption of the risk to medical malpractice cases, including this one.

Appellant’s assertion that there is no “legitimate application” of the doctrine is without any other support under South Carolina law. Appellant claims that *Cole v. Raut* is “instructive on this issue.” (Appellant’s Initial Brief, p. 19). However, *Cole* does not stand for Appellant’s proposition at all and is inapplicable to the present case. In *Cole*, the plaintiff plainly did not sign a consent form for a C-section delivery, which was the basis of the plaintiffs’ medical malpractice claim. 378 S.C. 398, 411, 663 S.E.2d 30, 36 (2008). Instead, she signed a consent form for an entirely separate procedure (i.e., a VBAC). *Id.* As a result, the South Carolina Supreme Court held that the plaintiffs could not be held to assume the risk of a C-section. *Id.* Here, Appellant admittedly signed a consent form for the surgery at issue, which explained the known complications of the surgery. Furthermore, she was also instructed on these potential risks during multiple other encounters with Respondents, so assumption of the risk is directly relevant to this case and applicable. Neither *Cole*

nor the out-of-jurisdiction case law cited by Appellant changes this.

Moreover, Appellant's assertion is, at best, a red herring. Respondents never argued that Appellant consented to negligence. Indeed, the record is replete with testimony that a patient cannot consent to negligence, so this is a non-issue. (R. pp. 329, 565, 595). The same is true with Appellant's references to comparative negligence, which Appellant conflates with assumption of the risk. (Appellant's Initial Brief, pp. 20-21). Respondents never pursued, and the circuit court did not submit assumption of the risk as a complete bar to Appellant's recovery. Instead, the circuit court correctly instructed the jury that assumption of the risk goes to the initial determination of negligence. *See Davenport v. Cotton Hope Plantation Horizontal Prop. Regime*, 333 S.C. 71, 81, 508 S.E.2d 565, 570 (1998) (holding that "primary implied assumption of risk is simply a part of the initial negligence analysis[.]"); *see also Hurst v. E. Coast Hockey League, Inc.*, 371 S.C. 33, 38, 637 S.E.2d 560, 562 (2006) (noting that South Carolina's adoption of comparative negligence does not affect the doctrine of assumption of the risk). In short, none of Appellant's arguments alter the fact that *Faile* controls and unequivocally supports the circuit court's decisions as to assumption of the risk.

B. Respondents Presented More Than Sufficient Evidence That Appellant Assumed The Risks Of Her Surgical Procedure To Create A Question For The Jury.

The circuit court did not err in denying Appellant's motions and instructing the jury on assumption of the risk because, as detailed above, the doctrine is available in all medical malpractice cases under South Carolina law, and Respondents presented more than sufficient evidence of it to create a question for the jury of its application to the present case. Assumption of the risk is the deliberate and voluntary choice to assume a known risk. *Baxley*, 303 S.C. at 347, 400 S.E.2d at 507. It may be implied by a plaintiff's conduct. *Davenport*, 333 S.C. at 78-79, 508 S.E.2d at 569 (internal citations omitted) (providing the elements). It is ordinarily a question for

the jury. *Id.* Assumption of the risk presents a question of fact for the jury where the defendant produces evidence that is susceptible of more than one reasonable inference that the plaintiff (i) had knowledge of a dangerous condition, (ii) appreciated the dangerous condition, and (iii) voluntarily exposed herself to it. *Baxley*, 303 S.C. at 347, 400 S.E.2d at 507; *see also Carter*, 173 S.C. at 60, 174 S.E. at 754 (cited *supra*).

Respondents produced evidence that Appellant knew of and appreciated the dangers associated with her surgery beginning with her very first encounter with Respondents. During her cross examination, Appellant testified that, at her first preoperative appointment with Respondents, Dr. Schimpf explained the surgical options available to her and the risks that were associated with those surgical options. (R. p. 303). Specifically, she testified that he discussed that she may not be satisfied with the outcome, that she could develop an infection, that there might be a problem with asymmetry, and that there was a risk of death, in addition to a general list of things that could happen with any surgery. (R. pp. 303-04). She also testified that she did not have any questions related to these risks and that she knew that they were “very real.” (R. p. 304). In fact, she told the jury that she had even been researching the risks on her own and that she was comfortable proceeding with the surgery knowing that the dangerous risks were real. (*Id.*).

She further testified that the risks were reiterated to her during a second encounter with Respondents – just days before her surgery – and that her understanding of the risks was memorialized yet again in a signed consent form. (R. 304-05). Consequently, Respondents entered Appellant’s signed consent form into the record without objection by Appellant and confirmed that she initialed that the most likely risks of surgery were explained to her in terms that she understood and that those included, among others, asymmetry, bleeding, delayed healing, different size than expected, discoloration and swelling, discomfort, pain, sensitivity, failure to improve

symptoms, infection, nipple loss, wound separation, and unsatisfactory terms. (R. pp. 305-98, 908-09). Appellant agreed that Respondents covered with her all of the complications that she later developed before she chose to move forward with the surgery. (R. p. 328). Appellant further agreed that she was “over-the-moon excited” to have the surgery despite knowing that above-referenced risks were real risks. (R. p. 310).

Through Dr. Schimpf’s testimony, Respondents elicited uncontradicted testimony that he explained the surgical risks, such as delayed wound healing, need for revision surgery specific to breast and nipple loss, and painful scarring, to Appellant for a third time immediately prior to operating. (R. p. 443, 911-12). Additionally, with full knowledge of the potential risks, she voluntarily chose to undergo the procedure anyway. The surgical experts, including Appellant’s, were unified that Respondents’ explanation of the risks to Appellant met the standard of care. (R. pp. 377-78, 533-34). Appellant’s subsequent treating physician also agreed that the risks that Respondents informed Appellant of for the surgery in question were the same as those that he tells his patients. (R. pp. 728-29).

The foregoing demonstrates that, before resting, Respondents produced more than enough evidence that would enable a reasonable juror to conclude that Appellant was properly informed of the complications for which she later sought damages (e.g., nipple and volume loss, asymmetry, infection, pain, need for revisional surgery, and an unsatisfactory outcome) and that she fully appreciated the potential for these complications yet still voluntarily chose to subject herself to them by electing the surgery. The fact that Dr. Schimpf did not have any indication that Appellant would ultimately develop one (1) or more complication after his exercise of reasonable care does not negate that he provided Appellant with the information that she needed to make an informed decision about surgery and that she did, in fact, make an informed decision of her own free will.

Furthermore, as mentioned above, Respondents did not have to use specific language, such as “mastectomies,” to trigger the doctrine as Appellant argues – though the evidence on the record supports that Respondents properly informed Appellant that there was risk that she would have to undergo subsequent surgeries for nipple and volume loss. (R. pp. 913-14). This evidence, along with the Supreme Court’s opinion in *Faile*, was available to and considered by the circuit court in ruling on Appellant’s motions. (R. pp. 165-68). Therefore, the circuit court’s submission of assumption of the risk to the jury was appropriate and not arbitrary.

C. The Circuit Court’s Instruction On Assumption Of Risk Was Not Confusing And Did Not Affect The Outcome Of The Trial.

The circuit court correctly instructed the jury on assumption of the risk under South Carolina law. In fact, the circuit court’s instruction contained the very same language used by the Supreme Court in *Davenport* in articulating assumption of the risk, including implied assumption of the risk, which was proper for the circuit court to include. *See* 333 S.C. at 79-81, 508 S.E.2d at 569-70. Despite Appellant’s contention, primary implied assumption of the risk’s application is not limited to spectator sports, and it does capture Appellant’s conduct in this case. *See e.g., Conrad-Hutsell v. Colturi*, 2002-Ohio-2632, ¶ 29 (Ct. App.) (holding that implied assumption of the risk may be submitted to a jury in a medical malpractice case); *Gray v. Gonzalez*, 290 A.D.2d 292, 293, 735 N.Y.S.2d 776 (App. Div. 2002) (same).

In South Carolina, there are only three (3) variations of assumption of the risk: (1) express, (2) primary implied and (3) secondary implied. *See Davenport*, 333 S.C. at 78-82, 508 S.E.2d at 570-71. “Express assumption of risk applies when the parties expressly agree in advance, either in writing or orally, that the plaintiff will relieve the defendant of his or her legal duty toward the plaintiff.” *Id.* at 79, at 569. Primary implied assumption of risk arises when the plaintiff impliedly assumes those risks that are inherent in a particular activity. *Id.* at 81, at 570. Primary implied

assumption of risk is not a true affirmative defense, but instead “is simply a part of the initial **negligence analysis.**” *Id.* Stated another way, it is a part of determining whether there was an exercise of reasonable care. *See Cole v. S.C. Elec. & Gas, Inc.*, 362 S.C. 445, 453, 608 S.E.2d 859, 863 (2005) (holding that primary implied assumption of the risk was submitted to the jury despite finding a duty existed because there was still of question of fact as to whether the defendant met the standard of care). “Secondary implied assumption of risk, on the other hand, arises when the plaintiff knowingly encounters a risk created by the defendant’s negligence. It is a true defense because it is asserted only after the plaintiff establishes a prima facie case of negligence against the defendant.” *Id.* at 71, at 571.

The evidence presented at trial supports that Appellant impliedly assumed the risks of her surgical procedure by executing her consent form wherein she acknowledged and accepted the risks inherent to her surgery and by choosing to undergo it. Thus, it was appropriate for the jury to be instructed on primary implied assumption of the risk versus the other variations. The fact that Respondents have a statutory duty of care does not render primary implied assumption of the risk inapposite because the jury was still tasked with assessing whether Respondents exercised reasonable care; breached their statutory duty. *See Cole*, 362 S.C. at 453, 608 S.E.2d at 863 (cited *supra*). This was explained to the jury in the circuit court’s instruction. (R. pp. 626-27) (“Primary implied assumption of the risk is not a trial affirmative defense, but instead goes to the initial determination of whether the defendant’s legal duty encompasses the risk encountered by the plaintiff. In other words, **it is simply part of the initial negligence analysis.**”)⁶ (emphasis added). So, Appellant’s claim that the circuit court’s instruction was confusing is wholly without merit and

⁶ Although not required under South Carolina law, this is arguably the “redemptive” or “clarifying” language that Appellant claims the circuit court’s instruction lacked as it specifies that assumption of the risk is not a complete bar to Appellant’s recovery.

unsupported by the record. Even so, the limited portion of the circuit court’s instruction on primary implied assumption of the risk is not sufficient on its own to overturn the jury’s verdict. *See Hennes*, 397 S.C. at 402, 725 S.E.2d at 507 (holding that, even assuming isolated portions of an instruction are “misleading,” the instruction does not constitute reversible error if the remainder of the instruction is reasonably free from error).

Markedly, there is no evidence that the jury was at all confused by the court’s instruction on this issue. The jury did not submit any questions related to assumption of the risk or otherwise intimate confusion during the circuit court’s polling. The mere fact that it was offered as part of the larger instruction is not sufficient to overturn the circuit court because, as discussed in detail above, assumption of the risk was both relevant and applicable. Additionally, Appellant’s incorrect perception that causation was undisputed likewise does not justify a new trial because assumption of the risk does not bear on causation; it is only relevant for assessing negligence.

Furthermore, as Appellant recognizes in her own Initial Brief, the instruction must affect the outcome of trial. *See Cole*, 378 S.C. at 404, 663 S.E.2d at 33. There is simply no evidence that the instruction affected the outcome of the trial. **In fact, the jury found for Appellant on the issue of negligence – which is the only element of the verdict that could possibly be affected by assumption of the risk.** Therefore, even assuming *arguendo* that the instruction had the potential to confuse jurors, Appellant cannot prove that she was prejudiced by it and, therefore, the jury’s unanimous verdict should not be disturbed.

D. Assuming The Circuit Court Erred In Denying Appellant’s Motions And Instructing The Jury As To Assumption Of The Risk, Such Error Was Harmless And There Are Other Reasons For Sustaining The Verdict.

The circuit court’s denial of Appellant’s motions and instructions as to assumption of the risk are consistent with South Carolina law. However, assuming *arguendo* that the circuit court erred in submitting assumption of the risk to the jury, any error that resulted was harmless and

would not support reversal. In South Carolina, harmless error is not a proper ground for reversal of a circuit court. *Judy v. Judy*, 384 S.C. 634, 646, 682 S.E.2d 836, 842 (Ct. App. 2009). Whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case. *In re Harvey*, 355 S.C. 53, 63, 584 S.E.2d 893, 897 (2003). “No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.” *State v. Mitchell*, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985). Error is harmless where it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. *Harvey*, 355 S.C. at 63, 584 S.E.2d at 897. Similarly, “[u]nder the present rules, a respondent - the ‘winner’ in the lower court - may raise on appeal any additional reasons the appellate court should affirm the lower court’s ruling, regardless of whether those reasons have been presented to or ruled on by the lower court.” *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 419, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000).

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